2000

Lana Hall v. Albertson's Incorporated and Labor Commission of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED, STANDARD OF APPELLATE
REVIEW AND PRESERVATION OF THE ISSUES IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE
AGENCY**

Issue No. 1: Did the Administrative Law Judge rely on the medical panel for a determination of legal issues which were outside of the medical panel's area of expertise?

Standard of Appellate Review: An agency's application of the law to the facts of the case is reviewed for correctness unless the agency is given a measure of discretion. See UTAH CODE ANN. § 63-46b-16(4)(d) (1997); *Drake v. Industrial Comm'n*, 939 P. 2d 177, 181 (Utah 1997).

Preservation of the Issue in the Administrative Agency: This issue was preserved in Petitioner's Motion for Review filed with the Labor Commission. (R. at 528-31, Addendum 4).

Issue No. 2: Was the Labor Commission's reliance on the medical panel report appropriate where the report did not meet any foundational requirements pursuant to Utah law?

Standard of Appellate Review: An agency's application of the law to the facts of the case is reviewed for correctness unless the agency is given a measure of discretion. See UTAH CODE ANN. § 63-46b-16(4)(d) (1997); *Drake v. Industrial Comm'n*, 939 P. 2d 177, 181 (Utah 1997).

Preservation of the Issue in the Administrative Agency: This issue was preserved in Petitioner's Motion for Review. (R. at 531-2, Addendum 4).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Utah Labor Commission's denial of Hall's claim for medical and disability benefits resulting from a work accident which occurred on

November 12, 1997, while she was working at Albertson's grocery store in St. George, Utah.

Hall filed an Application for Hearing with the Labor Commission on August 17, 1998, seeking payment of disability and medical benefits. This matter was tried before Administrative Law Judge, Kathleen H. Switzer, on April 23, 1999, in St. George, Utah. Judge Switzer referred this matter to a medical panel of the Labor Commission on October 14, 1998, for assistance relative to the medical aspects of the case. A medical panel of the Labor Commission convened on January 17, 2000, and issued a report on February 15, 2000, reaching conclusions unfavorable to Hall relative to all aspects of Hall's claim. Hall objected to the panel report and the ALJ sent those objections back to the medical panel. The medical panel responded indicating that those objections did not change its original conclusions.

On September 14, 2000, the ALJ adopted and incorporated by reference the medical panel report and entered an order denying Hall's claim for medical and disability benefits. On October 13, 2000, Hall filed a Motion for Review with the Utah Labor Commission challenging the determination of the medical panel and of the ALJ in adopting the panel report. On January 8, 2001, the Utah Labor Commission denied Hall's Motion for Review. On February 5, 2001, Hall filed a Petition for Review of Agency Action with this Court seeking review of the January 8, 2001, order of the Utah Labor Commission denying Hall's Motion for Review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On August 17, 1998, Hall filed an Application for Hearing seeking the payment of medical expenses, recommended medical care, temporary total compensation, and permanent partial disability compensation at stabilization for injuries she sustained to her low back while employed by Albertson's on November 12, 1997, while lifting a tray of meat. (R. at 2).

2. Albertson's answered Hall's Application for Hearing and admitted that Hall sustained injury to her low back arising out of and in the course of her employment with Albertson's on November 12, 1997, while lifting a tray of meat. (R. at 25).

3. Albertson's denied Hall's claims for temporary total disability benefits, medical benefits and permanent partial disability in excess of 3% based upon the insurance evaluation of Dr. Jeff B. Chung. (R. at 25-6).

4. This matter went to hearing before Administrative Law Judge, Kathleen H. Switzer, in St. George, Utah on April 23, 1999. (R. at 167, Addendum 1).

5. At the hearing, Judge Switzer entered the following preliminary findings of fact:

- A. Ms. Hall's wages varied depending upon her actual work assignment. She earned \$7.46 an hour while working at the meat counter and \$6.00 an hour while working at the salad bar. Exhs. R-2, P-4. Post-hearing, Albertsons submitted some additional wage information and both parties filed additional arguments related to Ms. Hall's wages. However, neither party could verify when Ms. Hall began earning \$7.46 an hour at the meat counter and nor the hours Ms. Hall was scheduled to work the week of her accident. (R. at 168, Addendum 1).

- B. The pay period immediately prior to her accident, Ms. Hall worked 12 hours at the salad bar ($12 \times \$6.00 = \72.00) and 28 hours in the meat department ($28 \times \$7.46 = \168.00); Ms. Hall also earned \$10.60 in premium pay, with gross weekly earnings totaling \$250.60. (R. at 168, Addendum 1).
- C. For purposes of calculating workers compensation benefits, Ms. Hall is married with no children under eighteen years old. (R. at 168, Addendum 1).
- D. It's undisputed, on November 12, 1997, Ms. Hall injured her back at work. Ms. Hall testified: She was working at the meat counter. A lady customer wanted a roast located on a tray at the front of the case. The tray measured about 2 ½ feet by 3 feet in size and rested about 30 to 36 inches above floor level. Ms. Hall reached into the case, twisting sideways to reach the tray, putting one hand underneath the tray to lift. A meat sale was in progress and, so, the roasts were a little heavier than usual. Ms. Hall estimated the tray held about 12 or 18 roasts, about 6 to 8 pounds each, for a total weight of 100 pounds or more. Ms. Hall had never lifted anything that heavy before. (R. at 168-9, Addendum 1).
- E. Ms. Hall further testified: She felt a sudden pain in her lower back, a sharp burning, electric shock kind of pain. The customer asked if she was alright. She pulled out the tray and finished waiting on the customer despite her pain. Then she started crying and reported her injury. She thought she was going to pass out. (R. at 169, Addendum 1).
- F. Medical opinion regarding these issues is mixed:
- On May 12, 1998, Dr. Venger released Ms. Hall to light duty, 2 to 4 hours per day with a 10 pound weight limit and no bending or stooping on May 12, 1998. Exh. R-1 at 202. However, Albertsons did not have light duty available. (R. at 169, Addendum 1).
- G. On June 16, 1998, Jeff B. Chung performed an insurance medical evaluation (IME). Dr. Chung did not believe Ms. Hall required any long-term permanent work restrictions. Dr. Chung also opined Ms. Hall was at maximal medical improvement (MMI) and gave her a three percent (3%) permanent partial impairment rating. Exh. R-1 at 284-85. Based on Dr. Chung's opinion, Albertsons offered Ms. Hall part-time work at their salad bar. The "job function . . . entail[ed] lifting watermelons [sic] and full cases

of cantaloupes and . . . long periods of standing.” *See Offer of Employment Letter.* (R. at 169-70, Addendum 1).

- H. Meanwhile, on June 16, 1998, the same day as Dr. Chung’s report, Dr. Green began plans to surgically decompress Ms. Hall’s back because of her severe and incapacitating pain. Exh. R-1 at 413. When Ms. hall did not return to work, Albertsons stopped paying weekly compensation benefits. (R. at 170, Addendum 1).
- I. Post-surgery, on February 9, 1999, Dr. Green released Ms. Hall to work with sixty-day restrictions. She could not lift more than 10 pounds, could not run or jump, and was to avoid long periods of sitting, or any bending, twisting or strenuous activity that produced back pain. Exh. R-1 at 404. Dr. Green declined to given an impairment rating. (R. at 170, Addendum 1).
- J. On April 12, 1999, Dr. Knoebel rated Ms. Hall as having a sixteen percent (16%) permanent partial impairment rating. Exh. R-1 at 001-011. She hasn’t returned to work. (R. at 170, Addendum 1).
- K. Ms. Hall testified: Ms. Hall has had some previous orthopedic problems. In 1976, she sustained mid-back injury. In 1980, she injured her knees, ankle and coccyx in a fall. In December 1990, she developed muscle spasms in her neck and back after driving “bumper cars” and received muscle relaxants. She has had chiropractic treatment for her neck but not her back. (R. at 170, Addendum 1).
- L. However, prior to her November 1997 accident, she had no problems with her back. She was able to work, do housework and other normal daily activities. Ms. Hall could lift cases on honeydew, cantaloupes, and watermelons weighing 40 to 50 pounds at Albertsons. Exh. R-1 at 20. Following her injury at Albertsons, she developed unrelenting back pain. She walked with a cane about one month before Dr. Chung’s IME. (R. at 170, Addendum).
- M. Mr. Hall proffered the following: During 15 years of marriage, he noticed no significant problems with Ms. Hall’s back or spine. He was present at the “bumper car incident” but didn’t notice any significant problems. Before her injury at Albertsons, she could go to work, perform her household chores but, after the injury, she couldn’t do those things. She got immediate relief from Dr. Green’s surgery but, since the car door incident, she has deteriorated somewhat.” (R. at 170, Addendum 1).

6. The ALJ determined there was a conflict in the medical evidence and ordered that a medical panel be convened to consider the medical aspects of the case. (R. at 171, Addendum 1).

7. On November 18, 1999, the ALJ referred this matter to Dr. Hylen and appointed him as medical panel chairperson on behalf of the Labor Commission and requested that he meet with Hall to determine the following four issues:

- A. “Is Ms. Hall’s condition medically stable, and if so, at what time following her injury did Ms. Hall reach medical stability? Medical stability means that Ms. Hall’s condition is ‘unlikely to change substantially, and by no more than 3% in the next year, with or without medical treatment.’ AMA Guides, at 315.’ (R. at 186, Addendum 2).
- B. “During what periods of time prior to reaching medical stability has Ms. Hall been medically restricted from working or medically restricted to light work?” (R. at 186, Addendum 2).
- C. “If Ms. Hall is medically stable, what is the total percentage of permanent partial impairments? What portion is attributable a) to Ms. Hall’s injury of November 12, 1997, and b) to other conditions?” (R. at 187, Addendum 2).
- D. “To what extent, if any, has Ms. Hall’s medical treatment been reasonably related and necessary to treat: a) her injury of November 12, 1997, and b) other conditions? Please specifically address Ms. Hall’s back surgery on August 31, 1998 [sic]. Evaluate what future medical treatment could be reasonably related and necessary to treat Ms. Hall’s injury of November 12, 1997.” (R. at 187, Addendum 2).

8. The referral to Hylen contains the following admonitions from the ALJ:

- A. “You are bound by my findings in regard to the ‘facts’ of this case. The ‘facts’ are the historical and other legal data which I have found as to how the alleged injury occurred, dates and times, places, persons involved, and related information, commonly regarded as the situation or circumstances surrounding Ms. Hall’s injury. **If Ms. Hall relates factual information which is inconsistent with my findings, you must ignore that information. If you discover additional facts which you use in your**

analysis, you must state these facts and describe how these facts changed your analysis.” (Emphasis in original). (R. at 187, Addendum 2).

B. “Except for stipulated medical facts, you are not bound by my discussion of the medical evidence. Unless the parties have stipulated to medical facts, you must rely on the available medical evidence, including but not limited to medical records, films, and medical opinions, diagnoses, and conclusions. **You may order additional tests and examinations you deem necessary or desirable to answer the questions posed, under Utah Code 34A-2-601 (2). Otherwise, however, you must not accept any medical records, documents, medical films or other evidence beyond that which I have provided.”** (Emphasis in original). (R. at 187, Addendum 2).

9. On January 17, 2000, the medical panel convened and met with Hall. (R. at 328).

10. Upon meeting with Hall, the medical panel questioned her at length and recorded the following 40 paragraphs of information in a 119 page report:

A. Ms. Hall articulated that Albertsons had a sale on roast beef during mid November 1997. She said the roasts were approximately double the normal size. She remarked that the tray containing the roast was approximately 1 foot wide and 3 feet long. She related that she was selling a roast to a customer on November 12, 1997 at approximately 8:30 p.m. She stated that she was standing on her left foot and leaning forward attempting to lift the tray containing the roast. She related the customer requested the roast in the very front of the tray. She said, ‘The tray weighed at least 110 pounds. As soon as I picked up the tray I felt my back give way. I had severe back pain. I was hot and sweaty.’ She commented that the pain was across her low back. ‘I thought I was going to pass out.’ She mentioned the pain was a level 10 on a scale of 0 to 10 and the pain was constant in nature. (R. at 332).

B. Ms. Hall elucidated that following her injury she noted pain down her right leg. She said that the pain in her right leg was worse with walking and relieved by rest. She observed the pain occurred in the lateral portion of the buttocks, the lateral thigh and calf, and across the bottom of the foot to the toes. She related at times the pain was a shooting pain into the right leg.

She contended that when she walked her pain quickly became a level 7 and then, when she rested overnight, it was a level 0. (R. at 332-3).

- C. Ms. Hall said during the Thanksgiving and Christmas holidays of 1997 that Albertsons store was short of personnel, particularly in the meat department and the deli. She stated that she continued to work in the meat department and the salad bar despite her pain. She articulated in early December she was called by her boss. She remarked she was instructed by her boss that she was not smiling enough and that customers had complained. She reported she told her boss that her low back was hurting. She recounted her boss told her that she should go see a doctor. (R. at 333).
- D. Ms. Hall conveyed after she saw the doctor on December 5th that he placed her on light duty with no lifting over 10 pounds. She said that the first couple of days she worked in the office but had trouble because she needed to climb the stairs several times up to the office. 'The pain was outrageous with walking the stairs.' (R. at 333).
- E. Ms. Hall described that she worked light duty for approximately a month and she averaged 2 to 3 hours per day. 'One day I did a demo at the salad bar. I stood in one place for two hours. My back pain became severe. I could not do it.' Ms. Hall elucidated that she has not worked since the end of the first week in January of 1998. (R. at 333).
- F. Ms. Hall expressed that she saw her physician, Dr. Thomas Jones who referred her to Dr. Max Root. She articulated she had some facet injections which actually made her pain worse. She stated that her pain changed from a level of 9+ to 10 with each of the facet injections. She reported that she had four facet injections which did not relieve her pain. (R. at 333).
- G. Ms. Hall elucidated that when she worked light duty that her low back pain averaged a level 7, but when she came to the store her pain was a level 10 after 2 to 3 hours work. 'I would shift from side to side due to my low back pain.' (R. at 333).
- H. Ms. Hall stated that she saw Dr. Jeff Chung in June of 1998. 'He spent 6 minutes at the most with me. My back was in severe pain. I had to walk with a cane.' (R. at 333).
- I. Ms. Hall expressed that when she got home from seeing Dr. Chung she found Dr. Michael Green in the phone book. She reported that she called the next day to make an appointment. (R. at 333).

- J. Ms. Hall recounted that she had epidural injections which made her sick. She related she had nausea and her blood sugars were elevated. (R. at 333-4).
- K. Ms. Hall asserted that she received a prescription for a back brace, which was a Knight brace. She remarked, however, that a Knight brace was not available in St. George. She related that a back brace was built specifically for her in March of 1998 in St. George. She articulated she tried to wear the brace during the day for six to eight weeks. 'I had problems with claustrophobia. The brace was too confining. It helped my back a lot but I could not wear it. My bones were coming apart when I took the brace off. It felt like part of my back was coming off when I took the brace off.' (R. at 334).
- L. Ms. Hall expressed that she saw Dr. Knoebel in 1999. 'He just basically agreed with the other insurance doctor.' (R. at 334).
- M. Ms. Hall described her low back pain remained a level 10 until she had nerve root injections ordered by Dr. Green in June of 1998. She elucidated that the nerve root injections were done at Dixie Medical Center. She contended that following the nerve root block that her pain was at a level 0 for about a month and then gradually increased back to a level 10. She expressed that her low back pain stayed at a level 10 until her lumbar laminectomy on August 31, 1998. She expounded that her right leg pain was relieved almost immediately following her lumbar surgery. She maintained that after a week or so that her low back pain was greatly relieved and gradually subsided to a 0. (R. at 334).
- N. Ms. Hall elucidated that following her Administrative Hearing at the Heber Wells Building on October 28, 1998, she had an aggravation of her low back pain. At the curb side next to the Heber Wells Building, she related that as she opened her car door she had an exacerbation of her low back pain. She narrated that her pain in her low back was a level 10 and has remained at that level since October of 1998. She commented when she opened the car door she felt a popping sensation in her low back. This was associated with nausea and pain down the left leg. She maintained that this was the first occasion that she had pain down her left leg. She observed that the pain in her left leg was in the 'exact same location' as it had been in the right leg, namely, in the lateral thigh, calf, and the bottom of the foot. She explained that she also noted pain with more physical activity in the left leg. She stated that with rest the pain was a 0 and with walking and extra

activity that her pain was a level 10. She said her left leg pain has averaged a level 5 since her aggravation. (R. at 334).

- O. Ms. Hall explained that her right leg pain had averaged a level 3 with no pain at rest, but becomes a sharp pain at a level 8 with physical activity. She professed that her current right leg pain lasts 3 seconds at a level 8 then the sharp pain gradually subsided. (R. at 334).
- P. Ms. Hall pronounced that Dr. Green did lumbar injections following her exacerbations. She articulated that the injections did not help her pain. She related that Dr. Green told her he could not do anything more to help her back condition. She declared that he released her to light duty work in February of 1999 with no prolonged walking or standing. (R. at 335).
- Q. Ms. Hall reported that she saw Dr. Dale Stott at the Zions Pain Management Center starting in July of 1999. She noted that Dr. Stott did two lumbar steroid injections. She said that these injections did not make her sick. She vocalized that her low back pain has not been relieved. She mentioned that Dr. Stott had treated her with Lortab 7.5 which gave minimal relief. She observed that she started her on Methadone 5 milligrams tablets. She voiced that she was unable to tolerate the Methadone treatment. (R. at 335).
- R. Ms. Hall said that Dr. Stott wanted to have a spinal cord stimulator implanted. 'I want to try it. They have to replace the batteries every two to five years.' She elucidated that she tried a TENS Units for her neck and a similar unit during physical therapy for low back without any pain relief. (R. at 335).
- S. Ms. Hall described that after her surgery Dr. Green recommended physical therapy. However, she reported she could not pay for the physical therapy and did not receive therapy. She remarked that physical therapy was able to help her before surgery. However, she noted the physical therapy gave pain relief for just very brief periods, such as one or two hours after the therapy. (R. at 335).
- T. Ms. Hall expressed that in mid December 1999 while at Kmart she had severe pain across her low back and into both legs. She described that she was walking with her husband at the time. She articulated that her knees buckled but that her husband was able to support her until the pain subsided somewhat. 'I was just walking to the car. My husband had to hold me up.' (R. at 335).

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