2000

Golden Eagle Oil Refinery, Inc., a Utah corporation  
v. Woods Cross City, a municipal corporation and  
political subdivision of the State of Utah : Brief of  
Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

In its Brief, Golden Eagle argues that municipalities are required to make a choice relating to nonconforming uses: either (1) terminate all nonconforming uses by amortizing said uses; or (2) allow nonconforming uses to exist perpetually. This argument ignores fundamental rules of statutory construction and is contrary to the common law principles cited above and the statutory scheme established in this state.

The law of this state requires that statutory enactments are to be so construed as to render all parts thereof relevant and meaningful. Courts are to avoid interpretations which would render some part of a statute nonsensical or absurd. Millett v. Clark Clinic Corp., 609 P.2d 934, 936 (Utah 1980). *Utah Code Ann.* § 10-9-408 sets forth basic principles of law relating to nonconforming uses and reads, in part:

(1) (a) Except as provided in this section, a nonconforming use or structure may be continued.

(b) A nonconforming use may be extended through the same building, provided no structural alteration of the building is proposed or made for the purpose of the extension.

(c) For purposes of this subsection, the addition of a solar energy device to a building is not a structural alteration.

(2) The legislative body may provide in any zoning ordinance or amendment for:

(a) the establishment, restoration, reconstruction, extension, alteration, expansion, or substitution of nonconforming uses upon the terms and conditions set forth in the zoning ordinance;

(b) the termination of all nonconforming uses, except billboards, by providing a formula establishing a reasonable time period during which the owner can recover or amortize the amount of his investment in the nonconforming use, if any; and

(c) the termination of a billboard that is a nonconforming use by acquiring the billboard and associated property rights through:

(i) gift;

(ii) purchase;



- (iii) agreement;
- (iv) exchange; or
- (v) eminent domain.

Golden Eagle's construction of this section would render the provisions of subsection (2)(a) completely meaningless. If municipalities are required to either amortize nonconforming uses or allow their perpetual existence, there is no need for cities to impose restrictions on nonconforming uses relating to restoration, reconstruction, extension, alteration or expansion. Obviously, the law is not intended to be as restrictive as argued by Golden Eagle. While cities may, in fact, establish reasonable amortization periods for the termination of nonconforming uses, the law also allows for the termination of such uses through cessation of use or abandonment, and the eventual phasing out of nonconforming uses through obsolescence. Additionally, the law protects those uses which have been determined to be proper in the zoning district at issue from the expansion of the nonconforming use. Golden Eagle's argument would undo these fundamental principles of law and, therefore, cannot be accepted.

State law also gives to cities the option to enact nonconforming use regulations which are more strict than those set forth in state statute. *Utah Code Ann.* § 10-9-104 states:

- (1) Except as provided in Subsection (2), municipalities may enact ordinances imposing stricter requirements or higher standards than are required by this chapter.

(2) A municipality may not impose stricter requirements or higher standards than are required by:

- (a) Section 10-9-106;
- (b) Section 10-9-106.5;
- (c) Part 5, Residential Facilities for Elderly; and
- (d) Part 6, Residential Facilities for Persons with a Disability.

Given the foregoing, the City is obviously authorized to enact nonconforming use regulations which are more strict than the Utah Code provisions. Accordingly, Golden Eagle's construction of relevant provisions of state law is simply incorrect.

## POINT II

### **THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT USE OF THE STORAGE TANKS CEASED FOR A PERIOD IN EXCESS OF ONE (1) YEAR.**

In this case the District Court determined that Golden Eagle's use of the old storage tanks ceased for a period in excess of one (1) year. This decision was based on Woods Cross City Ordinances and on the Court's legal interpretation of the term "in use."

Section 12-22-106 of the Woods Cross City Zoning Ordinance relates to the cessation of use of non-conforming uses. That Section, in part, states:

A use shall be deemed to have ceased when it has been discontinued either temporarily or permanently for a period of one (1) year or more, whether or not with the intent to abandon said use, subject to the following provisions;

- (a) Cessation of Use of Building Designated or Designed for Nonconforming Use. Except for a residential or accessory farm structure, a

building or structure which was originally designed for a non-conforming use shall not be put to a non-conforming use again when such use has ceased for one (1) year or more.

It is undisputed in this matter that from at least 1993, Golden Eagle put no new material into the storage tanks, nor did they remove any material from those tanks. Accordingly, the District Court determined that the old storage tanks were not in use for a period in excess of one (1) year. Significantly, during all of this time, Golden Eagle continuously used other storage tanks on the Property for storage of used oil products that were to be recycled by Golden Eagle.

In support of its argument that the storage tanks were “in use” Golden Eagle asserts that the mere presence of any petroleum products in the storage tanks means the tanks were “in use.” Golden Eagle argues that the storage of petroleum products is an essential and integral part of this business. Therefore, the presence of any material in the tanks necessarily leads to the conclusion that the tanks are “in use.” In reviewing this argument, the District Court correctly noted that “the interpretation of “in use” offered by Golden Eagle would allow nonconforming tanks to exist perpetually, only because some form of petroleum products remains in them. This obviously is contrary to the stated purpose and objective of gradually eliminating nonconforming uses.” R. App. at 235. The District Court’s determination on this point is clearly supported by law and was rendered in accordance with the policy which underlies the law.

Golden Eagle argues that the District Court should adopt the definition of “in use” set forth in V-1 Oil v. Dept. of Environ. Quality, 904 P.2d 214 (Utah App. 1995). However, as noted by the District Court:

Where the Court recognizes that V-1 Oil Company, identifies when an oil storage tank is “in use” for purposes of registration with the Department of Environmental Quality, Division of Environmental Response and Remediation (DERR), the Court does not necessarily find it conclusive in determining when an oil storage tank is in fact being used. The interpretation of “in use” offered by Golden Eagle would allow the nonconforming tanks to exist perpetually, solely because some form of petroleum product remains in them. This obviously is contrary to the stated purpose and objective of gradually eliminating nonconforming uses.

R. App. at 234, 235. Golden Eagle’s arguments are contrary to the policy which underlies the law of non-conforming uses. Therefore, the decision of the District Court was correct.

Golden Eagle also argues that “under the City’s interpretation, any legal nonconforming business would be required to rotate any stored inventory or materials at least once each year.” (Brief of Appellant at p. 25). This argument is a ridiculous mischaracterization of the City’s position. Nowhere has the City argued for the District Court or this Court to adopt a rule which would require inventories to be rotated. In this case, the District Court interpreted City ordinances relating to cessation of use and determined that, because Golden Eagle placed no material, nor removed any material from the old storage tanks at issue, and because there were no facts demonstrating that those tanks were in any way used as any part of Golden Eagle’s refining or reprocessing operations from 1993 to the present, the tanks were not “in use” for purposes of City ordinances. This

conclusion, based on undisputed facts in the record, has no application to any of the other irrelevant scenarios proffered by Golden Eagle. The City is simply asking this Court to affirm the District Court's determination, clearly supported by undisputed facts in the record, that the Old Tanks which were replaced by Golden Eagle played no part in their operations from at least 1993 to the present date, and were not "in use."

### POINT III

#### **THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT GOLDEN EAGLE'S REPLACEMENT OF THE STORAGE TANKS VIOLATES THE CITY'S NONCONFORMING USE ORDINANCE.**

Section 12-22-102 of the Woods Cross City Municipal Code states, in part:

Except as otherwise provided by law, nothing in this Chapter shall prevent or discourage the strengthening or restoring to a safe condition or any part of any building or structure declared unsafe by proper authority.

Additionally, § 12-22-104 of the Woods Cross City Zoning Ordinance relates to the enlargement of nonconforming uses and states:

A nonconforming use shall not be enlarged, extended or changed unless the use is changed to a use permitted in the district in which it is located, and a nonconforming building shall not be reconstructed or structurally altered unless such alteration results in removing those conditions of the building which render it nonconforming except as follows:

\* \* \*

(b) Repairs. Repairs and structural alterations necessary for building safety may be made to a nonconforming building provided that the floor area of such building is not increased.

(c) Within Building. A nonconforming use may be extended to include the entire floor area of the existing building in which it is conducted at the time the use became nonconforming.

In the District Court, and on appeal, Golden Eagle argues that these provisions authorize the replacement of the Old Tanks with new tanks. The District Court determined that Golden Eagle's complete removal of the old storage tanks and replacement of new tanks is not in the nature of a simple repair or structural alteration as contemplated in subparagraph (b) or § 12-22-104. This decision is well supported.

In Selligman v. Von Allmen Bros., Inc., 179 S.W.2d 207 (Ky. App. 1944), the Court of Appeals of Kentucky reviewed a circumstance where the owner of a building housing a nonconforming use replaced decayed wooden walls with brick walls in the structure. In that matter, the court stated:

The present use of a non-conforming building may be continued but it cannot be increased nor can it be extended indefinitely if zoning is to accomplish anything. It is customary for zoning ordinances to provide that the life of non-conforming buildings cannot be increased by structural alterations when a change is made by the owner in the building he must make it conform to the ordinance. . . . It would not have been difficult for appellee to have made his plans comply with the milk requirement of the health department without replacing the wooden exterior walls of his plant with brick thereby converting it into a new and different structure.

Selligman, 179 S.W.2d 207, 209.

Similarly, in Mossman v. City of Columbus, 449 N.W.2d 214 (Ne. 1989), the Supreme Court of Nebraska reviewed a situation where the owner of a nonconforming

mobile home was prohibited from replacing that mobile home with a new mobile home on the same site. In that case, the court stated:

The relevant ordinances planned for the gradual elimination of the Mossmans' nonconforming use by permitting them to keep the original mobile home on their property until they decided to replace it. Therefore, the Mossmans lost their investment not as a direct result of the city's zoning ordinance but, rather, because the original mobile home had become shabby.

Mossman, 449 N.W.2d 214, 218.

These cases recognize the fundamental rule of nonconforming use law that structural alterations or repairs and certainly complete replacements are generally disallowed. This assists in achieving the desired objective: to assure that the use eventually will be phased out in favor of those uses deemed proper by the legislative authority enacting the zoning regulations. Golden Eagle's arguments would completely set this principle aside.

Golden Eagle also argues that it was required to replace the Old Tanks by the Utah State Department of Environmental Quality. However, nothing in the record in any way supports Golden Eagle's assertion that it was required to replace the Old Tanks. It is clear from the material submitted by Golden Eagle that the Department of Environmental Quality required Golden Eagle, as part of the cleanup of the Property,<sup>1</sup> to remove the Old Tanks or, at least, to prevent them from leaking and to construct appropriate secondary containment in the area of those tanks. However, the state did not require that Golden Eagle replace those

---

<sup>1</sup>Golden Eagle was also required to remove numerous leaking barrels from the Property. R. App. at 3-5.

tanks. In fact, Golden Eagle could have complied with the state's requirements in every respect by simply removing the Old Tanks from the Property along with the old barrels. Nothing in the record supports Golden Eagle's assertion that the state required it to additionally replace the tanks that it removed. This sleight of hand in Golden Eagle's argument is a clear effort to make Golden Eagle's case appear much more sympathetic than it is.

Golden Eagle cites cases from numerous other jurisdictions in support of this argument. However, in each and every case cited by Golden Eagle on this point, the federal or state regulation at issue required replacement or modernization of structures or facilities to continue the use. In this case, Golden Eagle has been operating without the use of the tanks at issue since at least 1993, the entire time that Mr. Hartmark and Mr. Maughan have owned the Property. The assertion that the state required Golden Eagle to install the new Certified Tanks is simply incorrect. Golden Eagle's operation continued on the site without the use of the Old Tanks for at least five (5) years prior to their removal and continues to this day.

In truth, the installation of the Certified Tanks has nothing to do with regulations of the State Department of Environmental Quality and everything to do with current market conditions. Because of increased demand for re-recycled oil products, Golden Eagle wanted to increase its used oil storage capacity. Thus, the District Court's determination that installation of the Certified Tanks violates the City's nonconforming use law was absolutely



correct. If allowed to use those tanks, Golden Eagle's operations on the site will, in fact, expand. More importantly, the life of Golden Eagle's nonconforming use will be significantly extended, in contravention of the stated purpose and objective of nonconforming use law. Therefore, the decision of the District Court on this point should be affirmed.

#### POINT IV

#### **THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT GOLDEN EAGLE'S USE OF THE PROPERTY IS NOT TO BE PERMITTED AS AN ACCESSORY USE.**

Golden Eagle argues that its replacement of the Old Tanks is permitted as a valid accessory use to its primary nonconforming use on the Property. In support of this argument, Golden Eagle asserts that its use of the Certified Tanks is incidental to and subordinate to the nonconforming use of its Property. While Golden Eagle's use of the Certified Tanks may very well be incidental and subordinate to the primary use on the Property, a replacement of storage tanks which is prohibited by City Ordinances may not be allowed as an accessory use, particularly where the use Golden Eagle claims as an accessory has ceased for a period in excess of one (1) year, thereby prohibiting its resumption under the City's nonconforming use ordinances.

In Gilchrist v. Town of Lake George Planning Board, 680 N.Y.S.2d 320 (N.Y. App. Div. 3 1998), the Third Appellate Division of the New York Supreme Court reviewed a proposal to install a 2,000-gallon gasoline tank at a marina for the purpose of gasoline sales

to boaters. In that case, the petitioner argued that installation of the tank was an accessory use to its primary nonconforming use. The court declined to accept this argument. The court specifically noted that the tank proposed for installation would replace a tank which had not been used for a period of 15 years. The court noted that:

Inasmuch as there has been no sale of gasoline in connection with the operation of the marina for at least 15 years, a period in excess of the one-year period specified in the zoning ordinance, (cite omitted), we conclude that the use was abandoned. (Cite omitted)

Gilchrist, 680 N.Y.S.2d 320, 322. Similarly, in this case, the cessation of use, as determined by the District Court, prevents a finding that installation of the Certified Tanks constitutes an accessory use to the existing nonconforming use on the site.

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